#S208345

SEP 3 0 2013

IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CRC

MARIBEL BALTAZAR,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

FOREVER 21, INC., FOREVER 21 LOGISTICS, LLC, HERBER CORLETO, and, DARLENE YU,

Defendants and Appellants.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division One
Case No. B237173 (Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. VC059254)

RESPONDENT BALTAZAR'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

VALENCIA & CYWINSKA, ALC Mark Joseph Valencia, State Bar No: 239876 Izabela Cywinska Valencia, State Bar No: 287721 355 S. Grand Ave, Suite 2450 Los Angeles, CA 90071

INTRODUCTION

On August 4, 2011, Jane Doe ("Plaintiff" or "Respondent" or "Maribel Baltazar") sued Forever 21, Inc. ("Forever 21, Inc."), Forever 21 Logistics, LLC ("Forever 21 Logistics"), Raul Martinez ("Mr. Martinez"), Darlene Yu ("Ms. Yu"), and Herbert Last Name Unknown, subsequently identified as Herber Corleto ("Mr. Corleto.") ("Defendants.") (I CT 3-50.)¹ Plaintiff alleged violations of the Fair Employment Housing Act (sexual harassment, racial harassment, failure to prevent harassment, and retaliation), violations of Civil Code §51.7 and §52, and claims for constructive discharge. (*Ibid.*) On September 8, 2011, Forever 21, Yu, and Corleto filed a motion to compel arbitration. (I CT 59.) On October 7, 2011, the trial court denied the motion. (I CT 233-235.) Defendants Forever 21, Yu and Corleto ("Appellants") filed a notice of appeal on November 3, 2011. (I CT 236.)

It should be well emphasized that the trial court correctly and justly denied defendants' motion to compel arbitration, deeming it both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (I CT 234-235.) The trial court appropriately reviewed Plaintiff's *uncontroverted* declaration and accurately concluded that Plaintiff was unfairly coerced and pressured to sign the arbitration agreement, as a condition for employment. (I CT 206-207, 234-235.) The trial court, likewise, correctly ruled that there was a high degree of procedural unconscionability, and therefore, only a small degree of substantive unconscionability was necessary in order to deem the arbitration agreement as unconscionable, and thereby unenforceable. (I CT 235 ("Based upon the strength of that showing, plaintiff needs only some evidence of substantive unconscionability.")

¹ For purposes of this brief, Forever 21 Logistics, LLC and Forever 21 Inc. will be collectively referred to as "Forever 21."

The Court of Appeal, however, erroneously applied the incorrect standard in assessing substantive unconscionability, and using that standard, found no substantive unconscionability anywhere in the Forever 21 arbitration agreement with Plaintiff Baltazar. (Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc. (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 221, 225.) Despite years of consistent case law that allowed the Courts to find substantive unconscionability where the terms are found to be one-sided or unduly harsh or oppressive, the Court of Appeal raised the threshold for substantive unconscionability. (Ajamian v. CANTORCO2e, LP (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 771, 797; Samaniego v. Empire Today, LLC (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1138, 1147; Lhotka v. Geographic Expeditions, Inc. (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 816, 824-825; Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 113, 117-118, 121, 126.) That is, the Baltazar Court of Appeal ruled that substantive unconscionability can only be shown when the contract terms are: (1) overly harsh or (2) so one sided as to shock the conscience." (Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc., supra 212 Cal.App.4th at p. 231 (emphasis added).)

This approach should be rejected because it contradicts case law regarding the sliding scale approach in assessing both procedural and substantive unconscionability. (Abramson v. Juniper Networks, Inc. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 638, 655; Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc., supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 114, 119; Mercuro v. Sup.Ct. (Countrywide Secur. Corp.) (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 167, 175.) That is, if there is an arbitration agreement with a significant amount of procedural unconscionability, the amount of substantive unconscionability to be shown, via the sliding scale analysis, is small. The Baltazar court, however, ignores this and still requires that the contract terms be "so one sided as to shock the conscience" or "overly harsh" in order to demonstrate

that there is <u>any</u> substantive unconscionability. (Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc. (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 221, 231.)

Be that as it may, there should still be little question that the arbitration agreement between Forever 21 and Ms. Baltazar, not only has a high degree of procedural unconscionability, but is indeed substantively unconscionable, and the degree of substantive unconscionability is significant. It is undisputed that the arbitration agreement only enumerates employee-initiated actions as arbitrable, in the exact same fashion that led the *Pinedo* Court to rule that such a practice is "inherently one-sided." (*Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.* (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781.)

In addition to Forever 21's arbitration agreement only enumerating employee-initiated claims, it specifically allows the parties to petition the Court for injunctive relief pursuant to *California Civil Code* §1281.8, further allowing Forever 21 the option to avoid arbitration in matters relating to the misappropriation of trade secrets, intellectual property violations, and issues regarding confidentiality – all claims that are typically asserted by employers. (I CT 216.)

If that were not enough to evidence substantive unconscionability, the arbitration agreement actually requires the employee, Ms. Baltazar, to take "all necessary steps" to protect Forever 21's "valuable trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information." (I CT 216.) The provision, however, offered no reciprocity to the employee that the Company would likewise take "all necessary steps" to protect any confidential information regarding the employee, or the prosecution of her claims.

Therefore, the issues raised by Plaintiff Baltazar in her petition to the Supreme Court include the following:

• Does any substantive unconscionability exist in an arbitration agreement when the arbitration agreement allows both the employer and the employee to seek

injunctive relief pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §1281.8, notwithstanding the Trivedi Court holding that such agreements favor employers because employers are more likely to seek injunctive relief than an employee? (Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp., (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 397).

- Is an arbitration agreement inherently one-sided, and accordingly, substantively unconscionable, as stated by the *Pinedo Court*, when it only enumerates employee-initiated disputes as arbitrable, and does not list examples of employer-initiated disputes as arbitrable? (*Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.*, (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781).
- Does any substantive unconscionability exist when an arbitration agreement requires both the employer and the employee to agree that the employer, not the employee, has valuable confidential information, and further requires both parties in the course of arbitration proceedings to take "all necessary steps" to protect such information from the public?

Plaintiff/Respondent Maribel Baltazar will now show that the trial court was indeed correct, and that the arbitration agreement in issue is unconscionable. Mrs. Baltazar will further show that the Court of Appeal narrowed the legal test for substantive unconscionability, and even under the Court of Appeal's own standard, it still did not have the correct legal and factual justification to reverse the trial court.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On August 4, 2011, Maribel Baltazar, as Jane Doe, sued Forever 21, Inc., Forever 21 Logistics, L.L.C., Herber Corleto, Raul Martinez, and Darlene Yu. On September 8, 2011, Forever 21, Inc., Forever 21 Logistics, L.L.C., Herber Corleto, and Darlene Yu filed a motion to compel arbitration. On October 7, 2011, Los Angeles Superior Court Judge Raul

Sahagun denied the motion to compel arbitration holding that the arbitration agreement was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable, and therefore, unenforceable. (I CT 234-235.) Defendants, thereafter, filed a notice of appeal on November 3, 2011. (I CT 236.) The Second Appellate District, Division One, reversed the trial court's ruling on December 20, 2012, finding that even though the arbitration agreement was procedurally unconscionable, the arbitration agreement was not, in any way, substantively unconscionable. The Court of Appeal consequently ordered the case to arbitration.

Plaintiff Maribel Baltazar filed her Petition for Review to the California Supreme Court on January 30, 2013. The California Supreme Court granted review on March 20, 2013. On August 28, 2013, the California Supreme Court ordered that Plaintiff Baltazar file her opening brief within 30 days.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND - LAWSUIT

Defendant Forever 21 is an international clothing retail merchandizer. (I CT 3-4.) Plaintiff Maribel Baltazar, a woman of Mexican ancestry, was hired as an associate at Forever 21's Distribution Warehouse, which is located in downtown Los Angeles. (*Ibid.*) As an associate in the Distribution Warehouse, Mrs. Baltazar would assist in receiving and organizing new merchandize, so that the new merchandize may be appropriately delivered to specific Forever 21 retail locations, which would then be sold to the public. (*Ibid.*)

With regards to racial harassment and discrimination, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that her managers and co-employees, over the course of her employment, would often make highly inappropriate comments about her race. (I CT 5-7.) Specifically, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that her manager, Mr. Jeff Shin ("Mr. Shin"), who is of Korean descent, would often make statements to Mrs. Baltazar saying, "Korean people are better in every

way," "all Hispanics are poor and ignorant, and lack an education," and that "Koreans are the best." (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Mr. Shin would often tell Mrs. Baltazar that he "was amazed that a Hispanic girl could keep track of all the movement in the warehouse." (*Ibid.*)

Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Mr. Shin would randomly tell Mrs. Baltazar that African Americans were "lazy," and by way of example, explained to Mrs. Baltazar that Forever 21 had an African American employee who would often "fall asleep." (Ibid.) Mrs. Baltazar, at all times, found these comments unwelcomed, highly offensive, and inflammatory. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar also alleges that her co-employee Darlene Yu ("Ms. Yu") would also make racial remarks towards her. (I CT 7, ln 9-25.) Mrs. Baltazar specifically alleges that Ms. Yu told Mrs. Baltazar that she better change the ink in the printers or that she would "kick" Mrs. Baltazar's "ass." (Ibid.) Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Ms. Yu would refer to Mrs. Baltazar as "all you Mexicans" and complain about the way "Mexicans" write. (Ibid.) Mrs. Baltazar also alleges that Ms. Yu physically intimidated Mrs. Baltazar, by using her shoulder to shove Mrs. Baltazar. (Ibid.) In addition to the inappropriate comments and physical intimidation, Mrs. Baltazar further alleges that Hispanic associates were paid less than non-Hispanic associates. (I CT 6-7.)

With regards to sexual harassment, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that defendants Mr. Corleto and Mr. Martinez, both co-employees of Mrs. Baltazar, sexually harassed Mrs. Baltazar, with the knowledge and ratification of Mrs. Baltazar's supervisors. (I CT 4-11.) Specifically, Mrs. Baltazar alleges that Mr. Corleto would sexually harass Mrs. Baltazar by telling her, "woman when do you want to sleep with me," "when do you want me to sleep with you," "you look so good," "you have a good looking butt," "your breasts are too big," "your breasts are getting bigger," [Mrs. Baltazar was pregnant when Mr. Corleto made this comment], and

numerous other graphic and highly-vulgar comments that can be found in detail in Mrs. Baltazar's complaint. [I CT 8, ln.1 -9].

With regards to the sexual harassment by Raul Martinez, Mrs. Baltazar's Forever 21 co-employee, Mrs. Baltazar asserts that he would also verbally abuse Mrs. Baltazar, by telling Mrs. Baltazar, "damn baby, are you going to let me hit it or what," "hurry up you f—ing b—, give me my papers," "stupid b—," and "hey stupid b—, when will you let me hit it." (I CT 8, In. 18-25.) Mrs. Baltazar further asserts that Mr. Martinez further sexually harassed Mrs. Baltazar by approaching her from behind as she was bending forward and drinking water from a drinking fountain — as she was bending forward, Mr. Martinez, from behind, rubbed his genitalia against Mrs. Baltazar's genitalia. (I CT 9, In. 1-9.)

With regards to constructive discharge and retaliation, Mrs. Baltazar asserts that she reported the conduct of Mr. Shin, Mr. Corleto, Mr. Martinez, and Ms. Yu to Forever 21's most senior Human Resources director, Ms. Lisa Kim ("Ms. Kim"). (I CT 10, ln 5-14.) Mrs. Baltazar further asserts that she even wrote a letter to Ms. Kim stating that a Forever 21 employee was "always touching his most intimate parts," as well as other specific instances of harassment. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar, in her letter to Ms. Kim, further requested that the harassment, touching, and groping stop, as Mrs. Baltazar, "can't take it anymore." (*Ibid.*)

Mrs. Baltazar asserts that a Forever 21 Human Resources representative thereafter contacted Mrs. Baltazar, and told Mrs. Baltazar, "I have a lot of work. There are a lot of people who have problems," and that it would take some time for an investigation. (I CT 10.) Meanwhile during the pending investigation, Mr. Corleto and Mr. Martinez continued to sexually harass Mrs. Baltazar. (I CT 10, ln 15-22.) Thereafter, Human Resources contacted Mrs. Baltazar and allegedly told her, "Nothing came up. Everyone is covering up. I guess you still need witnesses even though

you are telling the truth." (I CT 10, ln 23-26.) In January 2011, Mrs. Baltazar resigned from Forever 21. (I CT 4-10.)

FACTUAL BACKGROUND - ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

On November 13, 2007, Forever 21 interviewed Mrs. Baltazar Maribel Baltazar for employment. (I CT 206, ln 9-20.) When Mrs. Baltazar arrived, she was greeted by a man who introduced himself as Mr. Ted Chung ("Mr. Chung"). (*Ibid.*) Mr. Chung thereafter provided Mrs. Baltazar with a comprehensive employment application, which contained numerous signature lines that were already highlighted in yellow for Mrs. Baltazar to sign. (I CT 206-219.)

While filling out the application, Mrs. Baltazar noticed on pages eight and nine of the employment application, that there was an "arbitration agreement." (I CT 206, ln. 21-26, 210-219.) On page nine, there was a signature block that was highlighted in yellow for Mrs. Baltazar to sign. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar did not sign it, but instead continued filling out the rest of the employment application, and signed all other portions that were highlighted in yellow. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar thereafter presented her employment application to Mr. Chung. (*Ibid.*)

Mrs. Baltazar saw Mr. Chung sit down and review Mrs. Baltazar's employment application. (I CT 207, ln. 1-16.) Mrs. Baltazar noticed that when Mr. Chung reviewed the unsigned arbitration section, Mr. Chung gave Mrs. Baltazar back her entire employment application and told her to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar specifically conveyed to Mr. Chung that she did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Chung told Mrs. Baltazar that she had to sign it. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar then shook her head without saying a word. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Chung then approached a Forever 21 manager by the name of Mr. Jeff Shin ("Mr. Shin"), and they, in front of Mrs. Baltazar, conversed in Korean, which Mrs. Baltazar did not understand. (*Ibid.*)

Mr. Shin then specifically told Mrs. Baltazar, "sign it or no job." Mrs. Baltazar did not want to sign it, but since she was in need of a position and was in need of income since she had just separated from her husband (whom she later reconciled with), and had to immediately support her children, she reluctantly signed the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) After Mrs. Baltazar signed the arbitration agreement, Forever 21 immediately hired her, and she started work that day. (*Ibid.*)

Three months later in February 2008, Forever 21 tasked Mrs. Baltazar with processing new hire applications. (I CT 207, ln. 17-26.) After interacting with some of the new hires, Mrs. Baltazar realized that some of the new hires exclusively spoke Spanish. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar thereafter approached Mr. Chung and asked if it was possible for the entire employment application to be in Spanish. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Chung informed Mrs. Baltazar that he would talk to Human Resources. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar and Mr. Chung then discussed the necessity of the arbitration agreement and Mr. Chung informed Mrs. Baltazar that Forever 21 wants to arbitrate because it does not want to be bothered with a jury trial. (*Ibid.*) He further informed Mrs. Baltazar that "Human Resources wants everything signed." (*Ibid.*)

Thereafter in June 2008, Mrs. Baltazar processed the employment application of a prospective Forever 21 employee. (I CT 208, ln 1-11.) The prospective employee informed Mrs. Baltazar that she also did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar and the prospective employees walked together to the main warehouse office. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar informed Mr. Chung that the prospective employee did not want to sign the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Chung again confirmed to Mrs. Baltazar that all employees must sign the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) The prospective employee then signed the arbitration agreement and departed from the main warehouse. (*Ibid.*) At this point, Mrs. Baltazar was

in the office with both Mr. Jeff Shin and Mr. Chung. (*Ibid.*) Mrs. Baltazar again asked about the arbitration agreement. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Shin explained to Mrs. Baltazar that all the employees have to sign the arbitration agreement, and then told Mrs. Baltazar, "We Koreans have to be smart." (*Ibid.*)

With regards to the actual arbitration agreement that Mrs. Baltazar signed with Forever 21, the arbitration agreement lists only employee-initiated disputes subject to arbitration, not employer-initiated disputes. (1 CT 216.) Specifically, the arbitration agreement lists the following types of disputes, all of which are employee-initiated:

"claims for wages or other compensation due; claims for breach of any employment contract or covenant (express or implied); claims for unlawful discrimination, retaliation harassment (including, but not limited to, claims based on employment benefits (except where an Employee's benefit or pension plan contains a claims procedure which expressly provides for a final and binding arbitration procedure different from this one)), and Disputes arising out of or relation to the termination of the employment relationship between the parties, whether based on common law or statute, regulation, or ordinance." (I CT 216.)

Additional provisions within the arbitration agreement include:

"Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure §1281.8 either party hereto may apply to a California Court for any provisional remedy, including a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction. (I CT 216.)

"Both parties agree that the Company has valuable trade secrets and proprietary and

confidential information. Both parties agree that in the course of any arbitration proceeding all necessary steps will be taken to protect from public disclosure such trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information." (I CT 216.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I.

NEITHER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, NOR
THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION ACT, APPLY TO
AN UNENFORCEABLE ARBITRATION
AGREEMENT, AND THEREFORE THE QUESTION
OF ENFORCEABILITY SHOULD BE THE FIRST
ISSUE ANALYZED.

It should be well noted that not all compulsory arbitration agreements will be enforced. They must still comply with traditional contract law principles, including the doctrine of unconscionability. (Fergunson v. Countrywide Credit Indus., Inc. (9th Cir. 2002) 298 F.3d 778, 782; Alexander v. Antony Intl'l, LP (3rd Cir. 2003) 341 F.3d 256, 264.) When a party challenges an arbitration provision as unconscionable and hence invalid, the issue is for the court to decide, applying relevant state contract law principles. (Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Casarotto (1996) 517 US 681, 686-687.) Accordingly, it is the court that decides challenges to the validity of the arbitration agreement, assessing the existence of either illegality or unconscionability. (Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna (2006) 546 US 440, 445-446.)

Appellants argued to the Court of Appeal that it should reverse the trial court because Forever 21's arbitration agreement is enforceable pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and California Law.

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