IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

MARIBEL BALTAZAR

OCT 28 2013

Plaintiff and Respondent vs.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

FOREVER 21, INC., FOREVER 21 LOGISTICS, LLC, HERBER CORLETO, and DARLENE YU

Deputy

Defendants and Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,

SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE

CASE NO. BC237173 (LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT NO.

VC059254

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GILBERT, KELLY, CROWLEY & JENNETT LLP ARTHUR J. MCKEON, III, BAR NO. 082540 REBECCA J. SMITH, BAR NO. 150428 1055 West 7th Street, Suite 2000 Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 615-7000 Facsimile: (213) 615-7100 ajm@gilbertkelly.com

rjs@gilbertkelly.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Maribel Baltazar ("Baltazar") is a former employee of Forever 21 Logistics, LLC and Forever 21, Inc.¹ Baltazar filed suit against Forever 21 based on allegations that she was sexually harassed, retaliated against, constructively discharged and intentionally caused emotional distress. Baltazar now seeks damages and injunctive relief.

For purpose of brevity Defendants Forever 21, Inc., Forever 21 Logistics, Inc., Darlene Yu and Huber Corleto shall be collectively referred to as "Forever 21."

Forever 21 moved to compel arbitration of Baltazar's claims based on an Arbitration Agreement ("Agreement") she entered into with Forever 21 at the inception of the employment. The trial court denied Forever 21's Motion to Compel Arbitration, however, on appeal, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District ("Court of Appeal") correctly found that the Agreement was not substantively unconscionable, reversed the trial court and ordered the underlying action be arbitrated. In reaching its decision, the Court of Appeal held the Agreement was adhesive and therefore procedurally unconscionable, but also held that the degree of procedural unconscionability was low in that there was neither surprise nor any other oppressive factors and further found no substantive unconscionability.

Baltazar has not offered a single persuasive legal argument to establish the Agreement is unenforceable under California law. Baltazar's argument regarding the Agreement's alleged procedural unconscionability – based on its "take it or leave it" nature and the non-attachment of procedural rules therefore fails.

Baltazar's arguments relating to the substantive unconscionability likewise fail. In light of the clear factual record and an accurate and reasoned reading of the Agreement's terms, the Court of Appeal found the Agreement contained no substantive unconscionability. The following supports its conclusion.

First, the Agreement is mutual in all respects. The Agreement requires both parties to submit all disputes arising out of the employment relationship to binding arbitration. While the Agreement provides examples of potential claims which must be arbitrated (ironically designed to place Baltazar on notice of the types of claims covered by the Agreement), the Agreement unmistakably provides that these examples are not an exhaustive list. (Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc. (2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 221, 234).

The language in the Agreement also provides for mutuality in regards to the use of provisional remedies, allowing both parties to resort to the courts for such a purpose. This is nothing more than a correct statement of law found in *California Code of Civil Procedure* §1281.8 of the California Arbitration Act. Despite the ability of both parties to use the court for provisional remedies, those parties are still obligated to resolve their claims through arbitration.

Second, Baltazar asserts that a simple and straightforward clause in the Agreement, which provides an alternative set of rules, somehow creates unconscionability. Baltazar argues the Agreement dictates claims found to be not arbitrable must still be submitted to arbitration. The Court of Appeal rejected this claim holding:

The provisions regarding the AAA rules simply provides an alternative means of arbitration if those rules are unenforceable for some reason. There is nothing unconscionable about designating an alternative arbitral forum should the rules to he preferred dispute resolution provider be declared invalid. (Baltazar, supra 212 Cal.App.4th at 241.)

This provision merely provides an alternative as to *what* rules will govern the proceedings; it does not speak to which claims are, or not, arbitrable.

Finally, Baltazar asserts that because the Agreement asks the parties to take all necessary steps to protect trade secrets that it is unduly harsh and one sided. This argument is facially invalid. The provision merely indicates that during the course of any arbitration proceeding all necessary steps will be taken to protect trade secrets and proprietary information from public disclosure. This is nothing more than any plaintiff would face if a defendant asked a trial court to impose a protective order. This provision puts no burden on the employee and merely indicates that if steps become necessary to safeguard proprietary, trade secret and confidential information, they can be taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Baltazar and Forever 21 entered into a written arbitration Agreement. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217). The Agreement required both parties to arbitrate any employment-related claims they may have against one another. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217). In its October 7, 2011 Order, the trial court denied Forever 21's Motion to Compel Arbitration and ruled the Agreement was procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (C.T. 234-235). On December 20, 2012, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order.

The undisputed facts demonstrate that, as a matter of law, Defendant's arbitration Agreement fully complies with the requirements set forth by *Armendariz v. Found Health Psychare Servs., Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 8 and is, therefore, enforceable.

A. <u>Baltazar and Forever 21 Entered Into An Agreement</u> <u>To Mutually Arbitrate All Employment Disputes</u>

Defendant Forever 21 is a clothing retailer. Defendant initially employed Baltazar at its warehouse distribution center. (C.T.5:24-26, 6:1). At the time of her hiring, Forever 21 presented Baltazar with a two-page Agreement entitled – in bold capital letters AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217). The Agreement provides that the employee and Forever 21 *jointly agree* to submit any employment-related dispute to binding arbitration. It clearly apprised Baltazar – in conspicuous BOLD CAPITAL LETTERS – that she: (1) should enter into the Agreement voluntarily, (2) should carefully read the Agreement and understand its terms, and (3) had the opportunity to consult with private legal counsel or advisor before signing the Agreement. (C.T. 81). The Agreement also set forth, in conspicuous bold letters, that

by signing it Baltazar would waive any and all rights to a court or jury trial. (C.T 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217).

The Agreement, in clear unambiguous language, binds both Baltazar and Forever 21 to binding arbitration:

The Company and Employee mutually agree that any dispute or controversy arising out of or in any way related to any "Dispute," as defined herein shall be resolved exclusively by final and binding arbitration. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217).

The term "dispute" is defined in the Agreement as follows:

[T]he term "Disputes" means and includes any claim or action arising out of or in any way related to the hire, employment, remuneration, separation or termination of Employee. The potential Disputes which the parties agree to arbitrate, pursuant to this Agreement, include but are not limited to: claims for wages or other compensation due; claims for breach of any employment contract or covenant (express or implied) claims for unlawful discrimination, retaliation or harassment (including, but not limited to claims base don employment benefits except where an Employee's benefit or pension plan contains a claim procedure which expressly provides for a final and binding arbitration procedure different from this one)), and disputes arising out of or relating to the termination of the employment relationship between the parties, whether based on common law or statute, regulation or ordinance. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217).

The Agreement also provides:

Both parties agree that the Company has valuable trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information. Both parties agree that in the course of any arbitration proceeding all necessary steps will be taken to protect from public disclosure such trade secrets and proprietary and confidential information. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217)

Finally, the Agreement provides:

If, in any action to enforce this Agreement a Court of competent jurisdiction rules that the parties agreement to arbitrate under the Model Rules for Arbitration of Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Association is not enforceable, then the parties agree that such Dispute shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration under the California Arbitration Act, California Code of Civil Procedure, Section 1280, et. seq. (C.T. 61:26-28, 62:1-2, 73:12-18, 80-81, 210, 216-217).

While initially indicating that she did not want to sign the Agreement, Baltazar ultimately signed and returned the Agreement to Forever 21. (C.T. 80-81 and 207).

B. Baltazar Sued In Derogation Of Her Agreement

On August 4, 2011, Baltazar filed her complaint. (C.T. 2-3) Baltazar alleged in her complaint claims for: (1) Racial Harassment, (2) Failure to Prevent Racial Harassment, (3) Racial Discrimination, (4) Sexual Harassment, (5) Failure to Prevent Sexual Harassment, Retaliation, (6) Violation of California Civil Code §51.7 and §52, (7) Constructive Discharge in Violation of Public Policy and, (8) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, seeking monetary damages and, importantly, injunctive relief. (C.T. 3-50). It is without dispute that all of Baltazar's claims arise out of her employment relationship with Forever 21 and were subject to the Agreement she executed.

C. The Trial Court Proceedings

On October 7, 2011 Forever 21 timely filed its Petition to Compel Arbitration under the *Federal Arbitration Act*, 9 U.S.C. §1, *et. seq.* and the California Arbitration Act (C.T. 59-133).

On September 26, 2011, Baltazar filed her opposition in which she argued the Agreement was procedurally unconscionable in that it was a contract of adhesion. (C.T. 134-134-220). Further, Baltazar argued the Agreement was substantively unconscionable in that it lacked mutuality

and provided, in her terms, a "fail safe" provision, which guaranteed all matters proceed to arbitration. (C.T.134-220).

On September 30, 2011, Forever 21 filed its reply brief (C.T. 222-232) and argued that the mere fact that the Agreement was a contract of adhesion did not, in and of itself, render it unenforceable. (C.T. 222-232). Forever 21 further argued that the Agreement specifically and expressly provided for mutuality, with neither party gaining an advantage over the other. (C.T. 222-232).

D. The Superior Court Denied The Petition To Compel Arbitration

On October 7, 2011, the Superior Court, the Honorable Raul A. Sahagaun presiding, heard oral argument on the Petition to Compel on October 7, 2011. (Reporters Transcript. ("R.T.") 1-11). The trial court denied the Petition to Compel finding the Agreement was procedurally unconscionable:

Plaintiff's declaration establishes, and defendants proffer no evidence to the contrary, that her agreement to arbitrate was required. She has established procedural unconscionability. (C.T. 235:4-6).

The trial court's order went on to indicate:

Based upon the strength of that showing, plaintiff needs only some evidence of substantive unconscionability. Here, plaintiff argues the Agreement applies to "any dispute or controversy," but that the examples expressly enumerated in the Agreement apply to claims by the employee. The Agreement further gives defendants the right to take "all necessary steps" to protect its trade secrets or other confidential information. That provision is vague as to what steps could be taken, but it can only be constructed to expand (rather than restrict) defendants' rights. Finally, the Agreement also provides that if a court were to find it unenforceable, then the parties would still have to arbitrate (using California rules, rather than the Model Rules.) (C.T. 235:8-15).

E. Forever 21 Appealed the Trial Court's Order

On April 17, 2012, Forever 21 filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the trial court's ruling. (C.T. 236-239). On December 20, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued its opinion finding in favor of Forever 21 and ordered the trial court's order denying the motion to compel arbitration reversed. (*Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.* (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 221).

LEGAL DISCUSSION

Baltazar has raised three (3) issues in her Opening Brief, each focused on whether substantive unconscionability exists in an arbitration agreement between Baltazar and Forever 21. Specifically, Baltazar has placed before this Court the following issues:

- 1. Does any *substantive unconscionability* exist in an arbitration agreement when the arbitration agreement allows both the employer and the employee to seek injunctive relief pursuant to *California Code of Civil Procedure* §1281.8, notwithstanding the *Trivedi* Court holding that such agreements favor employers because employers are more likely to seek injunctive relief than an employee? (*Trivedi v. Curexo Technology Corp.* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 387, 397). (Emphasis Added).
- 2. Is an arbitration agreement inherently one-sided, and accordingly, *substantively unconscionable*, as stated by the *Pinedo* court, when it only enumerates employee initiated disputes as arbitrable, and does not list examples of employer initiate disputes as arbitrable? (*Pinedo v. Premium Tobacco Stores, Inc.* (2000) 85 Cal.App.4th 774, 781). (Emphasis Added).

3. Does any *substantive unconscionability* exist when an arbitration agreement requires both the employer and the employee to agree that the employer, not the employee has valuable confidential information, and further requires both parties in the course of arbitration proceedings to take "all necessary steps" to protect such information from the public? (Emphasis Added).

In framing the issues, Baltazar ignores her obligation to prove the existence and degree of procedural unconscionability, or prove substantive unconscionability.

A. Baltazar Fails to Carry Her Burden to Establish The Arbitration Agreement is Unconscionable

One ground for refusing to enforce an arbitration agreement is unconscionability. (Higgins v. Superior Court (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1238 at 1248). This is the path Baltazar chose to challenge her Agreement with Forever 21. Unconscionability has both procedural and substantive elements. (Roman v. Superior Court (2009), 172 Cal.App.4th 1462 at1469). While procedural unconscionability focuses on oppression and surprise, substantive unconscionability focuses on the terms of the agreement and evaluates whether any term, or combination thereof, is so overly harsh or one-sided as to shock the conscience. The more substantively oppressive the contract terms are, the less evidence of procedural unconscionability is required to come to the conclusion that the term is unenforceable and vice Accordingly, Baltazar not only bears the burden of (*Id*.) versa. establishing the arbitration provision is both procedurally and substantively unconscionable, but the degree thereof. She has not and cannot do this as is more fully set forth below.

B. The Court of Appeal Property Applied A Sliding Scale Analysis In Evaluating Procedural And Substantive Unconscionability

It is well settled California law that "procedural unconscionability must be measured in a sliding scale with substantive unconscionability;" and courts must initially determine not only "whether procedural unconscionability exists, but more importantly, to what degree it may exist." (Morris v. Redwood Empire Bancorp (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 1305, 1319). Once an employee has established procedural unconscionability, and to what degree, the employee must then prove that the agreement is substantively unconscionable. It is not enough that one may exist without the other. e.g., (Fittante v. Palm Springs Motors, Inc. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 708, 723). Despite Baltazar's stance to the contrary, the Court of Appeal acknowledged these principles; both procedural and substantive unconscionability needed be present, but not necessarily to the same degree.

As the court noted noted in Serpa v. California Surety Investigations, Inc. (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 695, 704, "[i]t is well settled that adhesion typically contain some aspect of procedural unconscionability." But as the Serpa court pointed out, that does not conclude the analysis, for "this adhesive aspect of an agreement is not dispositive". (Id.) The Serpa court further observed that "when there is no "the indication of oppression and surprise procedural other unconscionability of an adhesion agreement is low and the agreement will be enforced unless the substantive unconscionability is high."

C. In This Case The Procedural Unconscionability Is Minimal

1. Oppression

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